Supporting Students with Medical Needs Policy

The Warwick School



Approved by: [Governors] Date: [May 2019]

Last reviewed on: [May 2020]

Next review due by: [May 2022]

Contents

1	Introduction	3
2	The role of the school	4
3	Implementing support for students with medical needs	4
4	Procedure to be followed when school is notified that a student has a medical condition	4
5	Individual Health Care plans (IHCPs)	5
6	Roles and Responsibilities	6
7	Staff Training and Support	7
8	The Child's Role in Managing Their Own Medical Needs	8
9	Managing Medicines on School Premises	8
10	Avoiding unacceptable practice	9
11	Emergencies	9
12	Insurance	10
,	Appendi A: Model process for developing individual healthcare plans	11
-	Template A Individual health care plan	12
-	Template B: parental agreement for setting to administer	14
-	Template D: record of medicine administered to all children	17
-	Template E: staff training record	18
-	Template F: contacting emergency services	19
-	Template G: model letter inviting parents to	20

1 Introduction

The Warwick School has a statutory duty in accordance with section 100 of the Children and Families Act 2014 to make arrangements to support students at school with medical conditions. School staff will also make reference to the Surrey County Council document "Pupil's Health & Administration of Medicines" booklet.

The aim of this-duty is to ensure that all children with medical conditions, in terms of both physical and mental health, are properly supported in school so that they can play a full and active role in school life, remain healthy and achieve their academic potential.

Students with long term and complex medical conditions may require on-going support, medicines or care while at school to help them manage their condition and keep them well. Other students may require monitoring and interventions in emergency circumstances. Children's health care needs may also change over time in ways that cannot always be predicted sometimes resulting in extended absences. In order to provide effective support, The Warwick School will maintain close liaison with the local health services and listen to the views of parents and students.

Long term absences due to health problems affect children's attainment, impact on their ability to integrate with their peers, and, affect their general wellbeing and emotional health. Reintegration back into school should be properly supported so that children with medical conditions fully engage with learning and do not fall behind when they are unable to attend. Short term and frequent absences, including those for appointments connected with a student's medical condition, also need to be effectively managed and appropriate support put in place to limit the impact on the child's educational attainment and emotional and general wellbeing.

Some children with medical conditions may be considered disabled under the definition set out in the Equality Act 2010. If this is the case The Warwick School must comply with the duties of that Act. Some children may also have special educational needs (SEN). If this is the case then The Warwick School will also take into account the (SEND) Code of Practice. The Warwick School Equal Opportunities Statement (Public Sector Equality Duty) defines the School's commitment to ensure that equality of opportunity is available to all members of the School community.

2 The role of the school

The Warwick School must ensure that children with medical conditions can access and enjoy the same opportunities at school as any other child. School will work with the local authority, health professionals and other support services to make sure that a full education is received. This will in some cases require flexibility and for example may involve part time attendance at school combined with alternative provision managed by the school/local authority.

Consideration will also be given to how children will be reintegrated back into school after periods of absence.

The focus is on the needs of each individual child and how their medical condition impacts on their school life.

Arrangements made for each child will include understanding of how the medical condition impacts on a child's ability to learn, as well as increase confidence and promote self-care. School has a responsibility to ensure that staff are properly trained to provide the support that students need.

3 Implementing support for students with medical needs

- The Headteacher is responsible for ensuring staff are suitably trained to support children with medical needs.
- The Headteacher will ensure all relevant staff are made aware of the child's condition.
- The school will ensure that someone is always available to assist (including cover arrangements)
- Supply teachers will be informed of support needs
- Risk assessments for school trips, holidays and school activities will be undertaken
- Individual health care plans will be monitored and reviewed annually or when changes are made.
 The plan should have the child's best interests in mind and ensure that the school assesses and manages risks to the child's education, health and social wellbeing, and minimises disruption.

4 Procedure to be followed when school is notified that a student has a medical condition

School does not have to wait for a formal diagnosis before supporting a student but judgements about any support needed will be based on the evidence from a healthcare professional, usually the child's General Practitioner or Paediatric Consultant, and in consultation with parents.

Transition arrangements will be discussed with the primary school about appropriate support in the summer term of Year 6 to ensure arrangements are in place when the child attends The Warwick School. A new diagnosis or children moving into the school mid-term will have arrangements put in place in a timely manner.

The Warwick School, however, does not have to accept a child in school at times where it would be detrimental to the health of that child or others to do so.

5 Individual Health Care plans (IHCPs)

The Student Services Manager, together with the Deputy Headteacher (Pastoral) at The Warwick School is the focal point for the development of individual care plans in supporting students with medical needs in close liaison with the School Nurse and parents.

IHCPs should:

- provide clarity about what needs to be done, when and by whom.
- be essential for some students where their condition may fluctuate or where there is a high risk that emergency intervention will be needed.
- be helpful where medical condition is long term and complex.

However, not all children will require an IHCP. School, the healthcare professional and the parent should agree based on evidence when an IHCP would be inappropriate or disproportionate. If a consensus cannot be reached the Headteacher will take the final view. A flow chart for identifying and agreeing the support a child needs and developing an IHCP is provided at Annex A.

IHCPs should capture key information and actions that are required to support the child effectively. The level of detail within the plan depends upon the complexity of the child's condition and the degree of support needed. Different children with the same health condition may require very different support. Where a child has special educational needs but does not have a Statement or an Education and Health Care Plan (EHCP) then their special educational needs should also be mentioned in their IHCP.

IHCPs can be initiated by school, or by a healthcare professional, usually the School Nurse, but will be done in consultation with the parent. Students should be involved where appropriate. School is responsible for ensuring that the IHCP is finalised and implemented.

Plans should be reviewed at least annually or earlier if evidence is presented to demonstrate that the child's needs have changed. School should develop the IHCP with the child's best interests in mind and ensure that risks to the child's education, health and social wellbeing are assessed and managed with the minimum of disruption.

The following information should be recorded on the IHCP:

- the medical condition, its triggers, signs, symptoms and treatments;
- the student's resulting needs, including medication (dose, side effects and storage) and
 other treatments, time, facilities, equipment, testing, access to food and drink where this is
 used to manage their condition, dietary requirements and environmental issues eg
 crowded corridors, travel time between lessons;

- specific support for the student's educational, social and emotional needs for example,
 how absences will be managed, requirements for extra time to complete exams, use of rest
 periods or additional support in catching up with lessons, counselling sessions; the level of
 support needed (some children will be able to take responsibility for their own health
 needs) including in emergencies. If a child is self-managing their medication, this should be
 clearly stated with appropriate arrangements for monitoring;
- who will provide this support, their training needs, expectations of their role and confirmation of proficiency to provide support for the child's medical condition from a health care professional; and cover arrangements for when they are unavailable;
- who in the school needs to be aware of the child's condition and the support required;
- arrangements for written permission from parents and the Headteacher for medication to be administered by a member of staff, or self-administered by the student during school hours;
- separate arrangements or procedures required for school trips or other school activities outside of the normal school timetable that will ensure the child can participate, eg risk assessments;
- where confidentiality issues are raised by the parent/child, the designated individuals to be entrusted with information about the child's condition; and
- what to do in an emergency, including whom to contact, and contingency arrangements.
 Some children may have an emergency healthcare plan prepared by their lead clinician that could be used to inform development of their individual healthcare plan.

6 Roles and Responsibilities

Supporting a child with a medical condition is not the sole responsibility of one person. In order to provide effective support it will involve working cooperatively with other agencies. Partnership working between school staff, healthcare professionals

(and where appropriate social care professionals) local authorities and parents and students is critical.

Collaborative working arrangements include working with the following range of people:

- Governing body ensuring that policy is developed and implemented. They should also ensure sufficient staff have received suitable training and are competent before they take on responsibility to support children with medical conditions.
- **Headteacher** has overall responsibility for the development of IHCPs and should ensure that the policy is effectively implemented with partners.
- **School staff** any member of staff may be asked to provide support to students with medical conditions, including the administering of medicines although they cannot be required to do so. Any member of staff should know what to do and respond accordingly when they become aware

that a student with a medical condition needs help. SEN and medical issue information is provided to Supply Teachers/Cover supervisors.

- School Nurse is responsible for notifying school when a child has been identified as having a
 medical condition which will require support in school. They may support staff in implementing a
 child's IHCP and will provide advice and training. School Nurses can liaise with lead clinicians
 locally on appropriate support and associated staff Medical Needs Policy training needs.
- Other healthcare professionals (including GPs and paediatricians) should notify the School Nurse when a child is identified as having a medical condition that will need support at school.
- **Students** with medical conditions are often best placed to provide information about how their condition affects them and should be as fully involved as possible.
- **Parents** should provide the school with sufficient and up to date information about their child's medical needs. They should provide medicine and equipment and ensure that they or a nominated adult are contactable at all times.
- Local Authority is the commissioner of the School Nurse in school. They should work with school to support students to attend full time. Where students would not receive a suitable education in a mainstream school, ie The Warwick School, then it has a duty to make other arrangements.

 Responsibilities and further guidance can be found at www.gov.uk/illness-child-education

7 Staff Training and Support

Any member of staff who is required to provide support to a student will be identified during the development or review of individual healthcare plans. Staff may already have knowledge of the specific support needed by a child with a medical condition and so training may not be required. Staff who provide support to pupils with medical conditions will be included in meetings where this is discussed.

Where formal training needs are identified, training will be arranged with accredited providers as advised by healthcare professionals. In addition the following will apply,

Teachers and support staff will receive regular and ongoing training as part of their development and as part of their induction training.

- The clinical lead for this training is the School Nurse.
- No staff member may administer prescription medicines or undertake any healthcare procedures without undergoing training specific to the responsibility. A First Aid certificate does not constitute appropriate training in supporting children with medical conditions
- No staff member may administer drugs by injection unless they have received training in this responsibility.

• The Student Services Manager and the Personnel Manager will keep a record of training undertaken and a list of teachers and support staff who are qualified to undertake responsibilities under this policy.

8 The Child's Role in Managing Their Own Medical Needs

Wherever possible students should be allowed to carry their own medicines and relevant devices or be able to access for self-medication quickly and easily although some may require an appropriate level of supervision. If a child refuses to take medicine staff should not force them but follow the agreed procedure in the IHCP. Parents should be informed so that alternatives can be considered.

9 Managing Medicines on School Premises

- Where possible, it is preferable for medicines to be prescribed in frequencies that allow the student to take them outside of school hours.
- If this is not possible, prior to staff members administering any prescribed medication, the parents/ carers of the child must complete and sign a Parental Agreement For School To Administer Prescribed Medicine form (Annex B).
- All medicines should be delivered personally to the Student Services Manager (or Assistant).
- No child will be given any prescription or non-prescription medicines without written parental
 consent except in exceptional circumstance: for example, where the medicine has been prescribed
 to the child without the knowledge of the parents.
- Where a student is prescribed medication without their parents'/carers' knowledge, every effort
 will be made to encourage the student to involve their parents while respecting their right to
 confidentiality.
- No child under 16 years of age will be given medication containing aspirin without a doctor's prescription.
- Medicines MUST be in date, labelled, and provided in the original container (except in the case of
 insulin which may come in a pen or pump) with dosage instructions. Medicines which do not meet
 these criteria will not be administered. It is the parent's responsibility to ensure that medicines
 provided are in date.
- Controlled drugs may only be taken on school premises by the individual to whom they have been prescribed. Passing such drugs to others is an offence which will be dealt with under our Drug and Alcohol Policy.
- Medications will be stored in a lockable cabinet in Student Services, under the supervision of the Student Services Manager.
- Children should know where their medicines are at all times and be able to access them immediately.

- Where relevant, they should know who holds the key to the lockable cabinet. Medicines and
 devices such as asthma inhalers, blood glucose testing meters and adrenaline pens should always
 be readily available to children. This is particularly important when outside of school premises, e.g.
 on school trips.
- Any medications left over at the end of the course will be returned to the child's parents as it is their responsibility to dispose of unused/out of date medications.
- Written records will be kept of any medication administered to children.
- Students will never be prevented from accessing their medication.
- The Warwick School cannot be held responsible for side effects that occur when medication is taken correctly.

10 Avoiding unacceptable practice

The Warwick School understands that the following behaviour is unacceptable:

- Assuming that students with the same condition require the same treatment.
- Ignoring the views of the student and/or their parents.
- Ignoring medical evidence or opinion.
- Sending students home frequently or preventing them from taking part in activities at school
- Sending the student to the Medical Room alone if they become ill. (Students are sent to the Medical Room with minor complaints. If their condition is deemed serious, they will be taken into Student Services/Medical Office.
- Penalising students with medical conditions for their attendance record where the absences relate to their condition.
- Making parents feel obliged or forcing parents to attend school to administer medication or provide medical support, including toilet issues.
- Creating barriers to children participating in school life, including school trips.
- Refusing to allow students to eat, drink or use the toilet when they need to in order to manage their condition.

11 Emergencies

Medical emergencies will be dealt with under the School's First Aid Procedures and Critical Incident procedures.

Where an Individual Healthcare Plan (IHCP) is in place, it should detail

- What constitutes an emergency
- What to do in an emergency.

Students will be informed in general terms of what to do in an emergency, such as telling a teacher.

If a student needs to be taken to hospital, a member of staff will remain with the child until their parents arrive.

12 Insurance

Teachers and support staff who undertake responsibilities within this policy are covered by the school's insurance under the Public Liability section of the policy. Full written insurance policy documents are available to be viewed by members of staff who are providing support to students with medical conditions. Those who wish to see the documents should contact the school office.

Details of how to make a complaint is set out in The Warwick School's Complaints Policy which can be found on the school's website.

Appendi A: Model process for developing individual healthcare plans

Parent or healthcare professional informs school that child has been newly diagnosed, or is due to attend new school, or is due to return to school after a long-term absence, or that needs have changed Headteacher or senior member of school staff to whom this has been delegated, co-ordinates meeting to discuss child's medical support needs; and identifies member of school staff who will provide support to pupil Meeting to discuss and agree on need for IHCP to include key school staff, child, parent, relevant healthcare professional and other medical/health clinician as appropriate (or to consider written evidence provided by them) Develop IHCP in partnership - agree who leads on writing it. Input from healthcare professional must be provided School staff training needs identified Healthcare professional commissions/delivers training and staff signed-off as competent - review date agreed IHCP implemented and circulated to all relevant staff IHCP reviewed annually or when condition changes. Parent or healthcare professional to initiate

Template A Individual health care plan

Name of school/setting	The Warwick School
Child's name	
Group/class/form	
Date of birth	
Child's address	
Medical diagnosis or condition	
Date	
Review date	
Family Contact Information	
Name	
Relationship to child	
Phone no. (work)	
(home)	
(mobile)	
Name	
Relationship to child	
Phone no. (work)	
(home)	
(mobile)	
Clinic/Hospital Contact	
Name	
Phone no.	
G.P.	
Name	
Phone no.	
Who is responsible for providing support in school	Mrs Janet Topp

Describe medical needs and give details of child's symptoms, triggers, signs, treatments, facilities, equip devices, environmental issues etc.	oment o
devices, environmental issues etc.	
Name of medication, dose, method of administration, when to be taken, side effects, contraindications, administered by/self-administered with/without supervision]
Daily care requirements]
Specific support for the pupil's educational, social and emotional needs]
Arrangements for school visits/trips etc.	J
Other information	
Describe what constitutes an emergency, and the action to take if this occurs	
Who is responsible in an emergency (state if different for off-site activities)]
Plan developed with]
Staff training needed/undertaken – who, what, when]
Form copied to W Drive : Medical Plans	

Template B: parental agreement for setting to

The school/setting will not give your child medicine unless you complete has a policy that the staff can administer

Date for review to be

Name of

Name of Date

birt

Group/class/fo

Medical condition or

Medici

Name/type of (a described on the

Expiry

Dosage and

Timi

Special precautions/other

Are there any side effects school/setting needs to know

Seładministrati/

Procedures to take in an

NB: Medicines must be in the original container as

Contact

Nam

Daytime

Relationship to

Addre

I understand that I must

[agreed member of

medicine

The above information is, to the best of my knowledge, accurate at the time of writing school/setting staff administering medicine in accordance with the school/setting school/setting immediately, there is any change in dosage or frequency of the medicine is

Signature(s)

Date

A		
т.		
		_

Template C: record of medicine administered to an individual child

Name of school/setting				
Name of child				
Date medicine provided by parent				
Group/class/forrQuantity	ė			
received				
Name and strength of medicine				
Expiry date	<u> </u>			
Quantity returned				
Dose and frequency of medicine				
	<u> </u>		_	
Staff signature		_		
Signature of parent				
Date				
Time given				
Dose given				
Name of member of staff				
Staff initials		Ī		
Date				
Time giveDose given				
Name of member of staff				
Staff initials				

C: Record of medicine administered to an individual child (Continued)

Date Time giveDose given Name of member of staff Staff initials Date Time giveDose given Name of member of staff Staff initials Date Time giveDose given Name of member of staff Staff initials Date Time giveDose given Name of member of staff Staff initials

Template D: record of me	dicine administered to all children

Name of school/setting

Date	Child's name	Time	Name of	Dose given	Any reactions	Signature of staff	Print name
						of staff	
	*						
8							
S.							
0							
	2						
1							
		E	8	9			
0							

Template E: staff training record

Name of school/setting				
Name				
Type of training received				
Date of training completed				
Training provided by				
Profession and title				
	has received the training detailed above and is competent commend that the training is updated [name of member of			
Trainer's signature				
Date				
I confirm that I have received the training detailed above.				
Staff signature				
Date				
Suggested review date				

Template F: contacting emergency services

Request an ambulanchial 999, ask for an ambulance and be ready with the information below. Speak clearly and slowly and be ready to repeat information if asked.

- 1. your telephone number
- 2. your name
- 3. your location as follows [insert school/setting address]
- 4. state what the postcode is- please note that postcodes for satellite navigation systems may differ from the postal code
- 5. provide the exact location of the patient within the school setting
- 6. provide the name of the child and a brief description of their symptoms
- 7. inform Ambulance Control of the best entrance to use and state that the crew will be met and taken to the patient
- 8. put a completed copy of this form by the phone

Template G: model letter inviting parents to contribute to individual healthcare plan

development

Dear Parent

DEVELOPING AN INDIVIDUAL HEALTHCARE PLAN FOR YOUR CHILD

Thank you for informing us of your child's medical condition. I enclose a copy of the school's policy supporting pupils at school with medical conditions for your information.

A central requirement of the policy is for an individual healthcare plan to be prepared, setting out what support the each pupil needs and how this will be provided. Individual healthcare plans are developed in partnership between the school, parents, pupils, and the relevant healthcare professional who can advise on your child's case. The aim interthat we know how to suppyour child effectively and to provide clarity about what needs to be done, when and by whom. Although individual healthcare plans are likely to be helpful in the majority of cases, it is possible that not all children with quire one. We will need to make judgements about how your child's medical condition impacts on their ability to participate fully in school life, and the level of detail within plans will depend on the complexity of their condition and the degree posts uppeded.

A meeting to start the process of developing your child's individual health care plan has been scheduled for xx/xx/xx. I hope that this is convenient for you and would be grateful if you could confirmwhether you are able to attend. The meeting will involve [the following people]. Please let us know if you would like us to invite another medical practitioner, healthcare professional or specialist and provide any other evidence you would like us index at the meeting as soon as possible.

If you are unable to attend, it would be helpful if you could complete the attached individual healthcare plan template and return it, together with any relevant evidence, for consideration at the meeting. I or another member of staff involved in plan development or pupil support] would be happy for you contact me [them] by email or to speak by phone if this would be helpful.

Yours sincerely